

Join in. Stand out.

2024

ANNUAL SAFETY & SECURITY REPORT

ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY REPORT

Reported as of the 30th of September, 2024

Table of Contents

| Introduction | 5 |
|--|----|
| Delta State University Police Department (UPD) | 5 |
| Policy for Reporting the Annual Disclosure of Crime Statistics | 5 |
| Campus Facilities Access & Security | 6 |
| Reporting Crimes, Emergencies, or Related Matters | 7 |
| Reporting Emergencies | 7 |
| Reporting Non-Emergencies | 7 |
| Confidential Reporting | 7 |
| Limited Voluntary/Confidential Reporting | 7 |
| Campus Security Authorities | 9 |
| Pastoral and Professional Mental Health Counselors | 10 |
| University Disciplinary Process | 10 |
| Police Daily Crime Log | 13 |
| Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking | 13 |
| Clery Act Definitions of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking | 13 |
| The Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act (VAWA) | 16 |
| The Campus Sexual Violence Elimination (SaVE) Act | 16 |
| Procedures Victims Should Follow | 17 |
| Involvement of Law Enforcement and Campus Authorities | 18 |
| Reporting Incidents of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking | 19 |
| TITLE IX | 19 |
| University Police Department | 19 |
| Procedures When a Crime of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalk Reported | _ |
| Adjudication of Violations | 19 |
| Disciplinary Proceedings Utilized in Cases of Alleged Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, S Assault, and Stalking | |
| How to File a Disciplinary Complaint under this Policy | 20 |
| Steps in the Disciplinary Process | 20 |
| University-Initiated Protective Measures | 21 |
| Notification to Victims of Crimes of Violence | 21 |
| Assistance for Victims: Rights and Options | 21 |

| Rights of Victims and the Institution's Responsibilities for Lawful Orders Issued by a Civil, or Tribal Court or by the Institution | |
|---|----|
| Accommodation and Protective Measures Available for Victims | 22 |
| Confidentiality | 22 |
| Risk Reduction | 23 |
| Programs to Prevent Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking | 24 |
| Ongoing Education and Awareness Programs | 25 |
| Bystander Intervention | 25 |
| Campus Crime Prevention Programs | 25 |
| Emergency Management | 27 |
| Emergency and Evacuation Testing Procedures | 27 |
| Emergency Notification | 28 |
| Campus Community Emergency Alert System – (OKRAlert) | 28 |
| Immediate (Emergency) Notification | 28 |
| Timely Warning Notification | 28 |
| Crime Prevention and Safety Information for the Campus Community | 29 |
| Campus Safety/Education | 29 |
| Crime Prevention and Security Awareness Programs - 34CFR 668.46(b)(6) | 29 |
| Campus Prevention Programs/Awareness Campaigns | 30 |
| University Counseling Center | 30 |
| Alcohol and Drug Abuse Processes for the Campus Community | 31 |
| Policy Statement | 31 |
| Sex Offender Registry | 31 |
| Firearms and Weapons on University Property | 31 |
| Weapons on Campus Policy | 31 |
| Missing Student Notification | 32 |
| University Missing Persons Procedure | 32 |
| Reportable Crimes | 33 |
| Categories of Prejudice | 35 |
| GEOGRAPHY DEFINITIONS FROM THE CLERY ACT | 35 |
| Other Pertinent Policies | 36 |
| Distribution of the Annual Security and Fire Safety Report | 36 |
| Annual Crime Statistics | 37 |

| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS | 38 |
|---|---|----|
| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS RESIDENCE HALLS | 38 |
| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES – NON-CAMPUS | 39 |
| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES – PUBLIC PROPERTY | 39 |
| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS RESIDENCE HALLS HATE CRIMES | 40 |
| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS HATE CRIMES | 40 |
| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES - NON-CAMPUS HATE CRIMES | 41 |
| | CRIMINAL OFFENSES – PUBLIC PROPERTY HATE CRIMES | 41 |
| | VAWA OFFENSES ON CAMPUS | 42 |
| | VAWA OFFENSES ON CAMPUS STUDENT HOUING FACILITIES | 42 |
| | VAWA OFFENSES NON CAMPUS | 42 |
| | VAWA OFFENSES PUBLIC PROPERTY | 42 |
| | VAWA OFFENSES REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE | 42 |
| | ARRESTS - ON-CAMPUS | 43 |
| | ARRESTS - ON-CAMPUS RESIDENCE HALLS | 43 |
| | ARRESTS - NON-CAMPUS | 43 |
| | ARRESTS – PUBLIC PROPERTY | 43 |
| | ARRESTS – REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE | 43 |
| | DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS ON-CAMPUS | 44 |
| | DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS ON-CAMPUS STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES | 44 |
| | DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS NON-CAMPUS | 44 |
| | DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS PUBLIC PROPERTY | 44 |
| | DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE | 44 |
| | UNFOUNDED CRIMES | 44 |
| Α | nnual Fire Safety Report | 45 |
| | FIRES | 45 |
| | FIRE INJURIES | 45 |
| | FIRE FATALITIES/DEATHS | 46 |
| | Fire Systems Inventory | 46 |
| | Description of Student Housing Facility Fire Safety Systems | 46 |
| | Smoke/Fire | 47 |

Introduction

Delta State University is a four-year public institution whose nearly 2,700 students come from most U.S. states and more than 35 countries. Acknowledging its beginning as a teacher's college, the University sustains excellence in teacher education while continuing to expand offerings in traditional as well as unique fields of study. Programs such as those available through the Delta Music Institute, the Commercial Aviation Department, and the Center for Interdisciplinary Geospatial Information highlight the University's commitment to meeting the evolving needs of the students it serves with world-leading, industry-acclaimed programs. Situated in the heart of the Mississippi Delta, Delta State offers top-notch academic programs in business, arts, sciences, nursing, education, and more. DSU Athletics has won 14 national championships, 70 conference championships, and 37 regional titles.

Delta State University Police Department (UPD)

The Delta State University Department of Campus Safety & University Police maintains order and promotes safety for students, employees, residents, and visitors. The University employs law enforcement officers and civilian personnel in performing these functions. These employees work in the following divisions: Administration/Investigations, Emergency Management, Parking Services, Uniformed Patrol, and Special Event Operations.

UPD police officers have primary jurisdiction on all property owned, leased, or governed bythe Mississippi Institutions of Higher Learning and arrest powers statewide. All university police officers meet criteria established by the Mississippi Board on Law Enforcement Officers Standards and Training by completing a primary academy and are state-certified. All staff attend advanced and inservice training programs annually to further their professional education and meet MBOLEST CEU standards.

UPD police officers are on duty year-round, twenty-four hours a day, including holidays. Police services include, but are not limited to, patrolling university property to ensure safety and deter crime; emergency and law enforcement response; investigating crimes on university property and in areas of concurrent jurisdiction; assisting local, other state, and federal law enforcement agencies related to the University; providing courtesy motorist assistance; and safety escorts after hours; enforcing state law and university regulations; educating the campus community on methods to keep themselves and their property safe.

Our primary directive is to protect life and property, understand and serve the campus community's needs, and improve the quality of life by building capacities to maintain order, resolve problems, and apprehend criminals consistent with the law and reflective of shared University values.

Policy for Reporting the Annual Disclosure of Crime Statistics

The University Police Department prepares the Combined Annual Security and Fire Safety Report to comply with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Crime Statistics Act and the Higher Education Opportunity Act. You may find previous issues of this report at https://www.deltastate.edu/students/police/campus-safety/. This report is prepared in

cooperation with the local law enforcement agencies surrounding our main campus, the Office of University Services, the Vice President for Student Affairs, the Office of Human Resources, the Admissions Office, Director of Engagement & Advocacy/Title IX Officer, Office of Health & Counseling Services, and numerous other university departments. Each entity provides updated information on its educational efforts and programs to comply with the Act. Campus crime, arrest, and referral statistics include those reported to UPD, designated campus security authorities, and local law enforcement agencies. These statistics may also include crimes that have occurred adjacent to university-owned properties. The University notifies all students, staff, and faculty annually via email of the availability of the Annual Security and Fire Safety Report on the university website.

Campus Facilities Access & Security

During non-operating hours, campus buildings are routinely patrolled by University Police. Once a non-residential building exterior is secured, only authorized persons may access it using swipe cards or keys or contact the University Police with a valid reservation. Residence halls are locked using keypad locks, electronic access on exterior doors, and standard locks on the individual room doors. Access is granted on a residence hall-specific authorization. Child Development locations also have external access control measures to which the Director and staff of the Child Development Center grant authorization.

All active residence halls and many campus buildings have surveillance cameras. These systems are maintained and reviewed by the University Police Department, OIT, and the Office of University Services.

Crime prevention through environmental design practices is considered during the on-campus facility construction or maintenance phase.

Reporting Crimes, Emergencies, or Related Matters

Reporting Emergencies

Police, fire, and medical emergencies should be reported by calling the University Police Department at 4155 on the campus phone system, by dialing (662) 846-4155, or 911 from a cell or off-campus phone. The University Police Department will dispatch units to the scene, with additional law enforcement, Fire Service, or EMS dispatched as needed.

The University Police Officers are on duty twenty-four hours a day, including all holidays, to assist the University community. The UPD encourages all community members to store the UPD number in their wireless phones for easy access.

Reporting Non-Emergencies

Any University community member who is the victim of a crime on campus or witnesses a crime on campus is encouraged to immediately report all suspicious or criminal activity to the UPD for investigation.

If a crime occurs off campus, report it to the law enforcement agency for that area. If you are unsure which department has legal jurisdiction, contact University Police for assistance. When reporting an offense or incident, try to be as detailed as possible and consider the following information:

- Name, location, and phone number of the caller
- Nature of offense/incident
- Location of offense/incident
- Description of any person(s) or vehicle(s) involved

Confidential Reporting

Delta State University recognizes that students, faculty, and staff may be hesitant about reporting crimes to the police; therefore, we have provided a confidential crime reporting form on the campus website at http://www.deltastate.edu/student-affairs/police/. "Press" the DSU CARES button, enter your information, and submit. You do not have to provide your name or email when you submit this form. Your information may lead to the arrest of a violator, which is reported in our annual crime statistics.

The purpose of this confidential reporting tool is to comply with your wish to keep your involvement in the matter confidential. With such information, the University can accurately record the number of incidents or crimes on campus, determine if there is a crime pattern, and alert the campus community to any potential danger.

Limited Voluntary/Confidential Reporting

Most police reports are public records under state law; however, the UPD can confidently hold certain information concerning a crime as provided by law.

Delta State University encourages anyone who is a victim or witness to any crime to report the incident to the police. Professional and pastoral counselors are exempt from reporting

| requirements. However, Delta State University encourages pastoral, professional, and mental health counselors and clergy to inform those they counsel of the procedures for reporting crimes voluntarily. These inclusions will be added to the crime statistics and expedite due process. |
|--|
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |

Campus Security Authorities

The Clery Act mandates that universities disclose statistics for crimes reported to the UPD, other police agencies, and Campus Security Authorities (CSAs). While we implore our campus community to report all criminal incidents to the University Police, we understand that sometimes students, faculty, and staff may be inclined to report incidents to someone other than law enforcement. Therefore, the University designates specific individuals as Campus Security Authorities, as defined by the Clery Act.

A Campus Security Authority, or CSA, can include those responsible for monitoring entrance into school property or facilities, athletic personnel, and any school official who has significant responsibility for students and campus activities, including, but not limited to, student housing and student discipline. All members of the UPD are also considered CSAs. Campus Security Authorities are trained on how to report crimes or incidents involving murder/non- negligent manslaughter, negligent manslaughter, sex offenses, sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, stalking, robbery, aggravated assault, burglary, motor vehicle theft, arson, liquor law violations, drug abuse violations, and weapons violations.

An individual may file a disciplinary complaint by filing a police incident report, a Student Code of Conduct report, a Human Resources incident report, or by contacting a Campus Security Authority. When a report of a disciplinary complaint is submitted to a CSA, they must complete the Campus Security Authority Reporting Form and submit it to the University Police. The disciplinary complaint will then be submitted to the Vice President for Student Affairs or the Disciplinary Committee Chair to review and determine the validity and possible investigation.

If you are the victim of a crime and you wish for your identity to remain confidential and desire no formal investigation, you must inform the CSA to whom you are reporting the event. If confidentiality has been requested, the listed university official receiving a crime report will gather sufficient information to allow the university to implement proper crime alerts if warranted. So, the information may be included in the statistical records maintained by the University Police Department.

Reports of crimes may be reported to the following:

- University Police Officers
- Vice President for Student Affairs
- Director of Engagement & Advocacy/Title IX Coordinator
- Program Managers in the Office oi University Services
- Residence Hall Directors
- Senior Resident Assistants
- Resident Assistants
- Student Organization Faculty/Staff Advisors
- Athletic Director, Assoc. Athletic Directors, Head Coaches, Coaches, Assistant Coaches
- Director of Human Resources

Pastoral and Professional Mental Health Counselors

According to the Clery Act, pastoral and professional mental health counselors who are appropriately credentialed and hired by the University to serve in a counseling role are not considered Campus Security Authorities when acting in the counseling role. As a policy, the University encourages pastoral and professional mental health counselors to notify those they are counseling of the voluntary, confidential reporting options available to them.

University Disciplinary Process

Article IX, Section 5 of the By-laws and Policies of the Board of Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning states that the President of Delta State University is charged with the responsibility of maintaining appropriate standards of student conduct and is authorized to expel, dismiss, suspend, and place limitations on continued attendance and to levy penalties for disciplinary violations subject to procedures of due process.

The President has delegated the student conduct disciplinary process to the Vice President for Student Affairs (VPSA). The VPSA assigns a Disciplinary Committee or Disciplinary Officer(s). In cases of sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking crimes, disciplinary proceedings will be conducted by officials who, at a minimum, will receive annual training on issues relating to sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking crimes, and how to conduct investigative and hearing processes that protect the safety of victims and promotes accountability.

Local, state, or federal law violations can be assigned to law enforcement authorities. Disciplinary hearings are utilized to arrive at decisions regarding student conduct. These decisions affect the student and their relationship with the University. The administration of discipline is an educational process. Such procedures will give full cognizance to tests of fairness, justice, truth, and due process requirements. The requirements for due process will include notice of charges, a fair and timely hearing, and an opportunity to appeal. All disciplinary proceedings will be prompt, fair, and impartial from the point of the report to the final determination by the University.

An individual may file a disciplinary complaint by filing a police incident report, a Student Code of Conduct report, a Human Resources incident report, or by contacting a Campus Security Authority. The disciplinary complaint will be submitted to the VPSA or the Disciplinary Committee Chair to review and determine the validity and for a possible investigation. If it is determined that the complaint is valid and needs action, the complaint will be submitted to the University Police Investigations, who will conduct a full investigation. (Note: Because of expertise in investigations, the University Police Department assists with investigating disciplinary complaints even if a criminal complaint is not filed.) Once the investigation is complete, the complaint and investigative findings are submitted to the Disciplinary Committee for adjudication. The Disciplinary Committee will review the documents and interview the accuser, accused, and witnesses. The Disciplinary Committee will then deliberate to determine responsibility and recommend disciplinary actions. Absent extenuating circumstances, the University will strive to conduct a full investigation of a complaint and adjudicate the complaint within thirty calendar days.

Delta State University expects that all members of the University community – students, faculty, and staff – should be able to pursue their work and education in a safe environment, free from acts of intimidation, sexual assault, or hate violence. To this end, the University is committed to maintaining a working and learning environment free of sexual misconduct. The University aims to eradicate sexual misconduct through education, training, clear policies, and serious consequences for violations of these acts. All forms of sexual assault, relationship violence, and stalking are considered serious offenses likely to result in suspension or expulsion and criminal prosecution. The prosecution of students, faculty, and staff for crimes they commit, whether by state or federal prosecutors, is independent of and could be in addition to the charges and actions taken under university regulations and disciplinary procedures.

Disciplinary hearings are conducted uniformly for all types of cases. However, in cases that involve Title IX violations, the Title IX Coordinator's investigation and process may be involved. The University's disciplinary process is consistent with the institution's policies and will include a prompt, fair, and impartial investigation and resolution process transparent to the accuser and the accused. The accuser and the accused are entitled to the same opportunities to have no more than two non-participating advisors present at any hearing or meeting related to the investigation or adjudication. Both parties will be notified in writing of their rights, the process and procedure of the hearing, and what is allowed.

Additionally, the accuser and the accused shall be simultaneously informed, in writing, of the outcome of any institutional disciplinary proceeding, which will include procedures for appeal and any changes as a result of the appeal process. The accuser and the accused are informed in writing of the outcome of any campus disciplinary proceeding alleging sexual assault, which is not a violation of FERPA.

The hearing process further involves both parties presenting their case to the Disciplinary Committee. The standard of evidence will be the "preponderance of evidence" presented to the committee. Sanctions for offenses range from censure, social probation, community service, educational/counseling consultation, restitution, levy of fines, no- contact directive, revocation of the residence contract, or suspension or expulsion from the University. In cases where a person has been found guilty of crimes of sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, or stalking, the sanctions may include the following: censure, social probation, community service, educational or counseling consultation, restitution, and levy of fines, no-contact directive, revocation of the residence contract, or suspension or expulsion from the University.

The disciplinary committee's determination is only the University's finding; the alleged suspect can still face criminal prosecution.

The accuser and accused must have the same opportunity to have others present. Other parties shall be informed of the outcome of any disciplinary proceeding. The complainant shall be informed of the following:

- Their option is to notify law enforcement.
- Availability of on-campus and off-campus counseling services.

- Available assistance, if reasonable, in changing academic, working, and/or living situations.
- Available options, if possible and reasonable, for transportation.

At the discretion of the VPSA, cases may be assigned to a Disciplinary Committee or Officer based on the type of violation, location of the violation, or the student's current disciplinary status. If a sanction is appealed, the case will be heard by the VPSA. The VPSA has the right to immediately suspend any student from all university property or activity, pending a hearing if the circumstances or seriousness of the alleged violations warrant such action. The VPSA may interject their authority in a judicial matter (before or after a decision is rendered) if they determine the safety or welfare of the complainant, accused, or University population is threatened.

A student guilty of violating University regulations has the right to appeal. For original adjudication cases, he/she has five days to accept or appeal the decision rendered. If, after five (5) days, the accused has not accepted or rejected the proposed sanctions, it will automatically go into effect. After original adjudication, the limit of time to appeal is established by the VPSA. The decision to appeal must be communicated to the Disciplinary Officer or whoever heard the original case. The VPSA may refuse to allow an appeal after the original adjudication if it is determined that there is no merit in the case. Such a decision may be appealed to the President of the University.

For more information on student conduct and Title IX, including the current policies, may be found at the provided links:

Student Code of Conduct - https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/16387405/latest

Title IX - https://www.deltastate.edu/titleix/

Police Daily Crime Log

A log of criminal incidents reported to the university police, which occur within the reporting area defined by the Jeanne Clery Act, is maintained by the UPD on its web page. The log is available for public inspection twenty-four hours a day online. Log entries are recorded after the information becomes available to the UPD or after the report has been finalized. The UPD may withhold information from the daily crime log according to Federal or State statutes and regulations if releasing such information would jeopardize an ongoing criminal investigation into the safety of an individual, and cause a suspect to evade detection, flee, or destroy evidence. Requests for crime data more than 120 days from the current date will be available within ten (10) business days.

Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking

Clery Act Definitions of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking

Domestic Violence – Includes felony or misdemeanor crimes of violence committed by a current or former spouse of the victim, by a person with whom the victim shares a child in common, by a person cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a spouse, by a person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the domestic or family laws of the State of Mississippi, or by any other person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person's acts under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction.

Dating Violence – Includes violence committed by a person—(a) who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim; (b) where the existence of such a relationship will be determined by the reporting party's statement and based on a consideration of the following factors:

- a. The length of the relationship.
- b. The type of relationship.
- c. The frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

Dating violence is defined in Mississippi Statutes within the Mississippi Domestic Abuse Law.

Stalking – Engaging in conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person to— a) fear for his or her safety or the safety of others, or b) suffer substantial emotional distress. For this definition,

- a) Course of Conduct means two or more acts, including, but not limited to, acts in which the stalker directly, indirectly, or through third parties, by any action, method, device or means follows, monitors, observes, surveils, threatens or communicates to or about a person, or interferes with a person's property;
- b) Reasonable person means a reasonable person under similar circumstances and with similar identities to the victim and

c) Substantial emotional distress means significant mental suffering or anguish that may, but does not necessarily, require medical or other professional treatment or counseling.

Mississippi State statute, 97-3-107 – Stalking is consistent with the VAWA definition.

<u>Sexual Assaul</u>t – An offense that meets the definition of rape, fondling, incest or statutory rape as used in the FBI's Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) program. Per the National Incident-Based Reporting System User Manual from the FBI UCR Program, a sex offense is "any sexual act directed against another person, without the consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent."

- Rape is defined as the penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus with any body part or object, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, without the consent of the victim.
- Fondling is defined as the touching of the private parts of another person for the
 purposes of sexual gratification, without the consent of the victim, including instances
 where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of his/her age or because of
 his/her temporary or permanent mental incapacity.
- Incest is defined as sexual intercourse between persons related to each other within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by law.
- Statutory rape is defined as sexual intercourse with a person under the statutory age of consent.

Mississippi Code Definitions of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault and Stalking:

Domestic Violence – Any of the following acts committed against a current or former spouse, a person living as a spouse or who formerly lived as a spouse, or a child of persons living as spouses or who formerly lived as spouses, a parent, grandparent, child, grandchild or someone similarly situated to the defendant, a person with whom the defendant has a biological or legally adopted child in common, or a person in a current or former dating relationship: Attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such an injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life; or Attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; or Strangles or attempts to strangle another; or Attempts to cause or purposely, knowingly or recklessly causes bodily injury to another; or Negligently causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; or Attempts by physical menace to put another in fear of imminent serious bodily harm; or Violation of a domestic violence protection order; or Stalking; or Cyberstalking; or Threats of such acts.

<u>Dating Violence</u> – The term dating violence is not defined under Mississippi law. However, domestic violence is defined by reference to the term "dating relationship." Accordingly, it is proper to define dating violence as follows: Dating violence means any acts committed against a person in a current or former dating relationship, as mentioned above. A dating relationship is a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature between two individuals; it does not include a causal relationship or ordinary fraternization between two individuals in a business or social context. Whether a relationship is a dating relationship shall be determined by examining the following

factors: the relationship length, the type of relationship, and the frequency of interaction between the two involved individuals.

<u>Sexual Assault</u> – Mississippi state criminal law does not define sexual assault. Instead, the criminal law sets forth such crimes as rape or sexual battery. The definition of these terms follows.

Rape - Every person who has forcible sexual intercourse with any person; or who has sexual intercourse with any person without that person's consent by administering to such person any substance or liquid, which shall produce such stupor or such imbecility of mind or weakness of body as to prevent effectual resistance, is guilty of rape. For this crime, sexual intercourse means 1) A joining of the sexual organs of a male and female human being in which the penis of the male is inserted into the vagina of the female; or 2) The penetration of the sexual organs of a male or female human being in which the penis or an object inserted into the genitals, anus or perineum of a male or female.

Statutory Rape - The crime of statutory rape is committed when: Any person seventeen years of age or older has sexual intercourse with a child who is at least 14 but under 16 years of age; is 36 or more months younger than the person, and is not the person's spouse; or A person of any age has sexual intercourse with a child who: is under the age of 14 years; is 24 or more months younger than the person, and is not the person's spouse. For this crime, sexual intercourse has the same meaning as rape above. Neither the victim's consent nor the victim's lack of chastity is a defense to a charge of statutory rape.

Sexual Battery - A person is guilty of sexual battery if he or she engages in sexual penetration with:

- a. Another person without his or her consent; A mentally defective, mentally incapacitated, or physically helpless person;
- b. A child at least 14 but under 16 years of age, if the person is 36 or more months older than the child; or
- c. A child under the age of 14 years of age, if the person is 24 or more months older than the child.

For purposes of sexual battery, sexual penetration includes cunnilingus, fellatio, buggery or pederasty, any penetration of the genital or anal openings of another person's body by any part of a person's body, and insertion of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person's body.

A mentally defective person suffers from a mental disease, defect, or condition that renders that person temporarily or permanently incapable of knowing the nature and quality of his or her conduct.

A mentally incapacitated person is rendered incapable of knowing or controlling his or her conduct or resisting an act due to the influence of any drug, narcotic, anesthetic, or other substance administered to that person without his or her consent.

If a physically helpless person is unconscious or, for any other reason, is physically incapable of communicating an unwillingness to engage in an act. A victim's spouse, not living separately and apart from the victim, cannot be found guilty of this crime unless the sexual penetration is forcible.

Stalking – Any person who purposefully engages in the course of conduct directed at a specific person, or who makes a credible threat, and who knows or should know that the conduct would cause a reasonable person to fear for his or her safety, to fear for the safety of another person or to fear damage or destruction of his or her property, is guilty of the crime of stalking. The course of conduct means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of two or more acts over some time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose that would cause a reasonable person to fear for his or her safety, fear for the safety of another person, or to fear damage or destruction of his or her property. Such acts may include but are not limited to the following or any combination thereof, whether done directly or indirectly: Following or confronting the other person in a public place or on private property against the other person's will; Contacting the other person by telephone or mail, or by electronic mail or communication, or Threatening or causing harm to the other person or a third party. A credible threat means a verbal or written threat to cause harm to a specific person or to cause property damage that would cause a reasonable person to fear for that person's safety or damage to the property.

Cyberstalking - A person uses electronic mail or electronic communication with any words or language threatening to inflict bodily harm to any person or to that person's child, sibling, spouse, or dependent, or physical injury to the property of any person or to extort money or other things of value from any person. A person electronically mails or electronically communicates to another person repeatedly, whether or not a conversation ensues, for threatening, terrifying, or harassing any person. A person electronically mails or electronically communicates to another person and knowingly makes any false statement concerning death, injury, illness, disfigurement, indecent conduct, or criminal conduct of the person electronically mailed or of any member of the person's family or household with the intent to threaten, terrify or harass. A person knowingly permits an electronic communication device under the person's control to be used for any purpose prohibited above.

<u>Consent</u> – The University defines consent as a clear, unambiguous, and voluntary agreement between the participants, communicated by clearly understandable words or actions, to engage in each form of sexual activity. The lack of informed consent to sexual contact constitutes sexual misconduct.

The Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act (VAWA)

The University prohibits the offenses of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking (as defined by the Clery Act). It reaffirms its commitment to maintaining a campus environment that emphasizes the dignity and worth of all university community members. Toward that end, Delta State University issues this statement of policy to inform the campus community of our programs to address domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking, as well as the procedures for institutional disciplinary action in cases of alleged dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking, which is followed regardless of whether the incident occurs on or off campus when it is reported to a University official.

The Campus Sexual Violence Elimination (SaVE) Act

The Campus SaVE Act increases transparency on campus about incidents of sexual violence, guarantees victims enhanced rights, sets standards for disciplinary proceedings, and requires

campus-wide prevention education programs. The Campus SaVE Act amends the Clery Act, which addresses campus sexual assault policies within the Higher Education Act of 1965. President Obama signed Campus SaVE into law on March 7, 2013, as part of the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) Reauthorization. The Campus SaVE Act amends the Clery Act, which requires campuses to provide annual statistics on incidents of campus crimes, including sexual assaults occurring on campus, and report to campus authorities or local police. The Campus SaVE Act broadens this requirement to mandate fuller reporting of sexual violence, including incidents of domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking.

The University prohibits sexual misconduct in any form, including sexual assault, sexual abuse, sexual harassment, and other nonconsensual sexual conduct. The University's sexual misconduct policies state the resources available to students and employees and describe prohibited conduct. Sexual misconduct is inconsistent with the standards and ideas of our community and will not be tolerated. The university is committed to fostering an academic, work, and living environment free from all forms of harassment, including sexual harassment, sexual misconduct, and sexual assault.

Additionally, federal law views sexual misconduct and sexual assault as sexual harassment prohibited under Title VII and Title IX. This policy and those procedures assist the university in complying with federal and state legal mandates and university policies concerning such misconduct; this applies to all university community members. The complete sexual misconduct policies and the entire procedures for the resolution of allegations of sexual misconduct, sexual assault, and sexual harassment can be accessed at

https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/14769559/latest

Per Title IX regulations, the university has designated a university Title IX coordinator. The Title IX coordinator is knowledgeable about sexual misconduct and will provide information on all options for complaint resolutions. Questions regarding the sexual misconduct policy, as well as concerns or complaints of non-compliance, may be directed to the Title IX coordinator. For more information on Title IX as well as modes to contact the Coordinator, visit http://www.deltastate.edu/titleix/.

Procedures Victims Should Follow

The following information provides steps to follow should a sexual assault occur:

- Get to a safe place as soon as possible!
- Try to preserve all physical evidence. The victim should not bathe, shower, brush their teeth, douche, use the toilet, or change clothing until they have a medical exam. If available, contact a close friend or relative who can support and accompany the victim to the medical exam or police department.
- Get medical attention as soon as possible. An exam may reveal the presence of physical injury that the victim is unaware of. Following a sexual assault, antibiotics are typically given during the exam to help prevent the victim from acquiring certain sexually transmitted diseases. If the victim reports memory loss, loss of consciousness, or other circumstances suspicious of a drug-facilitated assault, a urine test may be made if the victim presents within 96 hours. However, some commonly used "date rape" drugs are only detectable in the urine for six to eight hours after ingestion.

- Contact the police. Sexual assault is a crime; it is vital to report it. It is important to remember that reporting a crime is not the same as prosecuting the crime. The district attorney determines the final decision to prosecute. The decision to prosecute may be made at another time.
- Consider talking to a counselor. Seeing a counselor may be critical in helping the victim understand her/his feelings and begin the recovery process.

Involvement of Law Enforcement and Campus Authorities

Although the university strongly encourages all members of its community to report violations of this policy to law enforcement, it is the victim's choice whether or not to make such a report. Furthermore, victims have the right to decline to notify law enforcement. However, University Counseling or Title IX Coordinator will assist any victim with notifying law enforcement if the victim so desires.

Delta State University Resource Numbers

| O.W. Reily Health Center | 662-846-4690 | UPD Dispatch Center | 662-846-4155 |
|--------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------|--------------|
| University Services | 662-846-4788 | Vice President, Student Affairs | 662-846-4153 |

Community and State Resource Numbers

| Bolivar County | | City of Cleveland | d |
|---|--------------|------------------------------|--------------|
| District Attorney | 662-843-8000 | Police Department | 662-843-3611 |
| Health Department | 662-843-2706 | | |
| Sheriff Department | 662-843-5378 | Survivor Resource | es |
| Health Related Serv | rices | MS Domestic Violence Hotline | 800-898-3234 |
| Bolivar Medical Center | 662-846-0061 | MS Sexual Assault Hotline | 800-656-4673 |
| Delta Community Mental Health Services | 662-846-7556 | Our House Inc. | 662-332-5683 |

Other resources available to persons who report being the victim of sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, or stalking include the following:

- Rape, Abuse and Incest National Network: <u>www.rainn.org</u>
- Department of Justice: <u>www.ovw.usdoj.gov/sexassault</u>
- Department of Education, Office of Civil Rights: ww.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/index

Reporting Incidents of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking

If you have been a victim of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, you should report the incident promptly to the following:

TITLE IX -

307 H.L. Nowell Union, 662-846-4159, titleix@deltastate.edu, http://www.deltastate.edu/titleix/

University Police Department -

108 Bailey Hall, 662-846-4155, police@deltastate.edu, https://www.deltastate.edu/students/police/

Reports of all domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking made to the University Police will automatically be referred to the Title IX Coordinator for investigation, regardless of whether the complainant chooses to pursue criminal charges.

Procedures When a Crime of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking is Reported

The university has procedures in place that serve to be sensitive to victims who report sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking, including informing individuals about their right to file criminal charges as well as the availability of counseling, health, mental health, victim advocacy, legal assistance, and other services on and/or off campus as well as additional remedies to prevent contact between a complainant and an accused party, such as housing, academic, transportation and working accommodations, if reasonably available. The university will make such accommodations if the victim requests them and if they are reasonably available, regardless of whether the victim chooses to report the crime to the University Police or local law enforcement. Students and employees should contact the Title IX Coordinator for such accommodation.

Adjudication of Violations

The University's disciplinary process includes a prompt, fair, and impartial investigation and resolution process. In all instances, the process will be conducted in a manner consistent with the institution's policy and transparent to the accuser and the accused. Usually, the resolution of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking complaints is completed within 60 days of the report. However, each proceeding allows for extensions of timeframes for a good cause with written notice to the accuser and the accused of the delay and the reason for the delay. University officials involved in the investigation or adjudication of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking complaints are trained annually on the issues related to domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking, as well as how to conduct an investigation and hearing process that protects the safety of the victim and promotes accountability.

Furthermore, the policy provides the accuser and the accused with timely notice for meetings at which the accuser, accused, or both may be present. The accuser, the accused, and appropriate

officials will have timely and equal access to any information used during formal and informal disciplinary meetings and hearings. The institutional disciplinary procedures will not be conducted by officials with a conflict of interest or bias for or against the accuser or the accused. The accuser and the accused will have the same opportunities to have others present during any institutional disciplinary proceeding. The accuser and the accused each have the opportunity to be advised by an advisor of their choice at any stage of the process and to be accompanied by that advisor to any related meeting or proceeding. The university will not limit the choice of advisor or presence for either the accuser or the accused in any meeting or institutional disciplinary proceeding. The advisor, which may include an attorney, will not be allowed to question witnesses, address the hearing panel, or otherwise participate in the hearing process. The advisor may serve in an advisory capacity only during the hearing. The accuser and the accused will be notified simultaneously, in writing, of any initial, interim, and final decision of any disciplinary proceeding; and. Where an appeal is permitted under the applicable policy, the accuser and the accused will be notified simultaneously, in writing, of the procedures for the accused and the victim to appeal the result of the institutional disciplinary proceeding. When an appeal is filed, the accuser and the accused will be notified simultaneously, in writing, of any change to the result before it becomes final and the final result once the appeal is resolved.

Disciplinary Proceedings Utilized in Cases of Alleged Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking

This policy applies to all students, employees, and others, as appropriate, concerning activities occurring on any university property and university-related activities occurring off-campus, including university programs outside the United States.

How to File a Disciplinary Complaint under this Policy

Complaints of sexual misconduct reported in person to the Title IX coordinator, made in writing through the CART system, reported to faculty, chairs, deans, dean of students, or any university employee, who shall immediately report the incident to the university's Title IX coordinator.

The Title IX Coordinator shall have the responsibility, upon receiving a complaint or report of sexual misconduct, to conduct a preliminary investigation to determine whether or not there is sufficient evidence of a violation of the university's sexual misconduct policy, which would justify proceeding with a formal investigation.

Steps in the Disciplinary Process

When a formal investigation finds that a violation of the University's Sexual Misconduct Policy has, more likely than not, occurred, the Title IX coordinator will, within three (3) business days, give written notice to the complainant and respondent of the finding and the exact time and place that a hearing will take place. Generally, cases of sexual misconduct will be investigated and fully decided within sixty (60) business days of the date that the Title IX coordinator is notified of the complaint unless there are extenuating circumstances, such as uncooperative witnesses, break periods, and periods when the University is closed. The Title IX coordinator shall select three (3) members of a Sexual Misconduct Investigative Team (SMIT) to investigate the complaint or report of sexual misconduct and an appropriate number of team members to serve on the hearing panel. During the

investigation, SMIT members will collect all evidence relating to the complaint or report of sexual misconduct from all available sources and conduct interviews when appropriate.

University-Initiated Protective Measures

The Title IX Coordinator or their designee will determine whether interim interventions and protective measures should be implemented and, if so, take steps to implement those protective measures as soon as possible. Examples of interim protective measures include, but are not limited to, a University order of no contact, residence hall relocation, adjustment of course schedules, a leave of absence, or reassignment to a different supervisor or position. These remedies may be applied to one, both, or multiple parties involved. Violations of the Title IX coordinator's directives and protective measures will constitute related violations that may lead to additional disciplinary action. Protective measures imposed may be temporary pending the results of an investigation or may become permanent as determined by the University.

Notification to Victims of Crimes of Violence

Upon written request, the university will disclose to the alleged victim of a crime of violence or a non-forcible sex offense the report on the results of any disciplinary proceeding conducted by the institution against a student who is the alleged perpetrator of such crime or offense. If the alleged victim is deceased as the result of such crime or offense, the next of kin of such victim shall be treated as the alleged victim for this paragraph.

Assistance for Victims: Rights and Options

Regardless of whether a victim elects to pursue a criminal complaint or whether the offense is alleged to have occurred on or off campus, the university will assist victims of sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking and will provide each victim with a written explanation of their rights and options. Such written information will include the following: the procedures victims should follow if a crime of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking has occurred; information about how the institution will protect the confidentiality of victims and other necessary parties; a statement that the institution will provide written notification to students and employees about victim services within the institution and in the community; a statement regarding the institution's provisions about options for, available assistance in, and how to request accommodations and protective measures and an explanation of the procedures for institutional disciplinary action.

Rights of Victims and the Institution's Responsibilities for Lawful Orders Issued by a Criminal, Civil, or Tribal Court or by the Institution

The University complies with Mississippi state law in recognizing orders of protection issued by a court of law, including all emergency, temporary, and final protection orders. The university is sensitive to victims who report sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking, including informing individuals about their right to the availability of counseling, health, mental health, victim advocacy, legal assistance, and other services on or off campus as well as additional

remedies to prevent contact between a complainant and an accused party, such as housing, academic, transportation and working accommodations, if reasonably available.

Any person who obtains an order of protection from a Mississippi court or any other state should provide a copy to the University Police Department and the Office of the Title IX coordinator. Note that upon issuing a protection order in Mississippi, the order shall be entered into the Mississippi Protection Order Registry by the court clerk, and a copy provided to the sheriff in the county of the court of issuance. A complainant may then meet with the University Police to develop a Safety Action Plan, a plan for University Police and the victim to reduce the risk of harm while on or coming from campus. This plan may include but is not limited to escorts, special parking arrangements, changing classroom location, or allowing a student to complete assignments from home. The university will make such accommodation if the victim requests or complies with the protection order.

The university may issue an institutional no-contact order if deemed appropriate or at the victim's or accused's request if the victim reports that such an institutional no-contact order has been violated. In that case, the University will initiate disciplinary proceedings appropriate to the status of the accused (student, employee, etc.). It will impose sanctions if the accused is found responsible for violating the no-contact order.

Accommodation and Protective Measures Available for Victims

Upon receipt of a report of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, the university will provide written notification to students and employees about accommodations available to them, including academic, living, transportation, and working situations. The written notification will include information regarding the accommodation options, available assistance in requesting accommodation, and how to request accommodation and protective measures. At the victim's request and to the extent of the victim's cooperation and consent, the University will work cooperatively to assist the victim in obtaining accommodations. If reasonably available, a victim may be offered changes to academic, living, working, or transportation situations regardless of whether the victim reports the crime to the University Police or local law enforcement. An example of options for a potential change to the academic situation may be to transfer to a different section of a class, withdraw, and take a class at another time if there is no option for moving to a different section. Potential changes to living situations may include moving to a different room or residence hall. Possible changes to work situations may include changing working hours. Possible changes in transportation may include having the student or employee park in a different location assisting the student or employee with a safety escort or other needs. To request changes to academic, living, transportation, and working situations or protective measures or to receive assistance in requesting these accommodations, a victim should contact the Office of the Title IX Coordinator.

Confidentiality

Victims may request that directory information on file with the university be withheld. To have directory information withheld, the victim must complete a written request and submit verifiable identification to the Office of the University Registrar. A form is available on the campus in the Office of the University Registrar (Kent Wyatt Hall). Students who cannot come to campus can inquire to registrar@deltastate.edu, and a form with return instructions will be sent to the student.

Regardless of whether a victim has opted out of allowing the university to share "directory information," personally identifiable information about the victim and other necessary parties will be treated as confidential and only shared with persons who have a specific need to know, i.e., those who are investigating/adjudicating the report or those involved in providing support services to the victim, including accommodations and protective measures.

By only sharing personally identifiable information with individuals on a need-to-know basis, the institution will maintain as confidential any accommodations or protective measures provided to the victim to the extent that maintaining such confidentiality would not impair the ability of the institution to provide the accommodations or protective measures.

The university does not publish the names of crime victims or other identifiable information regarding victims in the Daily Crime Log or the annual crime statistics that are disclosed in compliance with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act. Furthermore, if a Timely Warning Notice is issued based on a report of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, the name of the victim and other personally identifiable information about the victim will be withheld.

Risk Reduction

With no intent to victim blame and recognizing that only abusers are responsible for their abuse, the following are some strategies to reduce one's risk of sexual assault or harassment. Information below was obtained from the Rape, Abuse & Incest National Network, www.rainn.org.

- 1) Be aware of your surroundings. Knowing where you are and who is around you may help you find a way to escape a bad situation.
- 2) Try to avoid isolated areas. It is more challenging to get help if no one is around.
- 3) Walk with purpose. Even if you do not know where you are going, act like you do.
- 4) Trust your instincts. It is likely not the best place to be if a situation feels unsafe or uncomfortable.
- 5) Avoid loading yourself with packages or bags, as this can make you appear more vulnerable.
- 6) Make sure your cell phone is with you and charged and that you have cab money.
- 7) Do not allow yourself to be isolated by someone you do not trust or someone you do not know.
- 8) Avoid putting music headphones in both ears so that you can be more aware of your surroundings.
- 9) When you go to a social gathering, go with friends. Arrive together, check in throughout the evening, and leave together. Knowing where you are and who is around you may help you to find a way out of a bad situation.
- 10) Trust your instincts. If you feel unsafe in any situation, go with your gut. If you see something suspicious, contact law enforcement immediately (local authorities can be reached by calling 911 in most areas of the U.S.).
- 11) Do not leave your drink unattended while talking, dancing, using the restroom, or making a phone call. If you've left your drink alone, just get a new one.

- 12) Do not accept drinks from people you do not know or trust. If you accept a drink, go with the person to the bar to order it, watch it be poured yourself, and carry it yourself. Do not drink from the punch bowls or other large, standard open containers at parties.
- 13) Watch out for your friends, and vice versa. If a friend seems out of it, is way too intoxicated based on the amount of alcohol they've had, or is acting out of character, get him or her to a safe place immediately.
- 14) If you suspect you or a friend has been drugged, contact law enforcement immediately (call 911 in most areas of the U.S.). Be explicit with doctors so they can give you the correct tests (you will need a urine test and possibly others).
- 15) If you need to get out of an uncomfortable or scary situation, here are some things that you can try:
 - a) Remember that being in this situation is not your fault. You did not do anything wrong; it is the person who is making you uncomfortable that is to blame.
 - b) Be true to yourself. Do not feel obligated to do anything you do not want to do. "I do not want to" is always a good enough reason. Do what feels right to you and with what you are comfortable.
- 16) Have a code word with your friends or family so that if you do not feel comfortable, you can call them and communicate your discomfort without the person you are with knowing. Your friends or family can then come to get you or make up an excuse for you to leave.
- 17) Lie. If you do not want to hurt the person's feelings, it is better to lie and make up a reason to leave than to stay and be uncomfortable, scared, or worse. Some excuses you could use are needing to take care of a friend or family member, not feeling well, having somewhere else you need to be, etc.
- 18) Try to think of an escape route. How would you try to get out of the room? Where are the doors and windows? Are there people around who might be able to help you? Is there an emergency phone nearby?
- 19) If you or the other person have been drinking, you can say that you would rather wait until you both have your full judgment before doing anything you may regret later.

Programs to Prevent Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking

The University provides comprehensive educational programming to prevent domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking. Educational programming consists of primary prevention and awareness programs for all incoming students and new employees about ongoing awareness and prevention campaigns for the campus community that include the following:

- primary prevention information addressing sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence, and stalking.
- bystander intervention education.
- sexual harassment information, including workplace harassment.
- definition of consent.
- State law on domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking.
- information on risk reduction.
- information on resources available on campus to address these issues.

- information on campus expectations and values
- checkup for Sexual Violence Prevention (SVP)

For online Sexual Assault resources, visit the website: https://www.deltastate.edu/titleix/sexual-assault-help/

Ongoing Education and Awareness Programs

Throughout the year, the university and invited organizations provide training and educational programming to faculty, staff, and students on various issues related to sexual assault, intimate partner violence, sexual harassment, and stalking. Programming available includes bystander intervention training, sexual assault response training, workshops for athletic teams, Greek organizations, ally training, and many others. Student Health Services offers training and primary prevention workshops to university students on healthy sexuality and healthy relationships; The Title IX coordinator provides ongoing training and education to faculty, staff, and students on issues related to sexual misconduct and stalking and staff reporting responsibilities. Student Counseling Services, University Services, and the University Police Department offer programs on domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking to the campus community.

Bystander Intervention

Bystanders play a critical role in the prevention of sexual and relationship violence. Bystanders are individuals who observe violence or witness the conditions that perpetuate violence. They are not directly involved but have the choice to intervene, speak up, or do something about it. The university wants to promote a culture of community accountability where bystanders are actively engaged in preventing violence without causing further harm.

A person may not always know what to do, even if they want to help. The immediate danger could be when a person is yelling at or physically abusive toward another, and it is not safe to interrupt; if you or someone else is in immediate danger, dial 911. Further information regarding bystander intervention is listed below:

- 1. Watch out for your friends and fellow students/employees. If you see someone who looks like they could be in trouble or need help, ask if they are ok.
- 2. Confront people who seclude, hit on, make out with, or attempt to have sex with someone who is incapacitated.
- 3. Speak up when someone discusses plans to take sexual advantage of another person.
- 4. Believe someone who discloses sexual assault, abusive behavior, or experience with stalking.
- 5. Refer people to on-campus or off-campus resources listed in this document for support in health, counseling, or legal assistance.

Campus Crime Prevention Programs

In conjunction with the training curriculum provided by the Title IX Coordinator, education and prevention information concerning sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking is included in the University's online training module, which will be required training for students, staff, and faculty.

If necessary, protective measures will include assistance in changing the academic and living situations of the victim, changes/adjustments to the work area/environment, or alternate transportation routes/methods after an alleged sexual assault incident if requested by the victim; and if these changes are reasonably available. In cases where it remains possible that the defendant and the victim are still on campus, a no-contact directive will be issued and enforced. The University strictly adheres to the FERPA Act in all matters where it is pertinent.

Counseling, mental health, and other services are available on campus and in the surrounding community for victims of sexual assault.

Written notification of available protective measures is provided to each victim of an alleged sexual assault incident. Accommodations will be made available, even if a police report is not filed.

Emergency Management

The University Emergency Operations Plan addresses the university's response to emergencies by taking an all-hazard approach to natural and human-caused emergencies and hazards. The university maintains an Emergency Operations Center and Emergency Operations Group (EOG), which senior university officials may activate for responding to emergencies on the campus. Team members and University Police have received Incident Command System (ICS) training, utilized when responding to these incidents. The campus community should familiarize themselves with the university's publicly available website, www.deltastate.edu/emergency/, which contains information on emergencies, evacuation, safety tips, alert methods, and shelter. University departments are responsible for developing contingency plans and continuity of operations plans for their staff and areas of responsibility.

Emergency and Evacuation Testing Procedures

The university conducts tests of its emergency capabilities regularly. The tests include, but are not limited to, drills, tabletop, functional exercises, and full-scale simulations. These tests are designed to assess and evaluate the emergency plans and capabilities of the institution. All exercises are documented, and appropriate after-action reports are completed. The Office of University Services and UPD conduct drills each semester for all residence halls to ensure an adequate emergency response. They also coordinate evacuation drills at least twice a year. Students living in residence housing are provided with emergency exit locations in the buildings. They are guided in the direction they should travel when exiting each facility for a short-term building evacuation. Residents are told in advance of the building being evacuated, the availability of the various designated emergency gathering locations on campus, and other factors such as the location and nature of the threat. Residence Life staff or first responders on-scene will communicate information to students regarding the developing situation or any evacuation status changes in these cases. The purpose of evacuation drills is to prepare building occupants for an organized evacuation in case of fire or other emergencies. Evacuation drills are used to educate and train occupants on fire safety issues specific to a building. Before conducting drills, students who reside in the residence halls are provided information about emergency evacuation.

Additionally, evacuation routes are posted in residence halls. During drills, occupants practice procedures and familiarize themselves with the location of exits and the sound of the fire alarms. In addition to educating occupants about the evacuation procedures during the drills, the process also allows the university to test the operation of fire alarm system components. Evacuation drills are evaluated by Residence Life staff and the local fire department to review egress and behavioral patterns. Reports are prepared by participating departments that identify deficient equipment so that repairs can be made immediately. Recommendations for improvements are also submitted to the appropriate departments/offices for consideration. Students who reside in residence halls receive information about evacuation and shelter-in-place procedures during their dorm meetings. Residence Life staff members are also trained in these procedures and act as ongoing resources for the students living in the residence halls.

Emergency Notification

Campus Community Emergency Alert System – (OKRAlert)

OKRAlert is a mass notification system for emergency messaging designed to send emergency messages to the university's employees and students in a matter of minutes. OKRAlert will be used in conjunction with existing university avenues of emergency communication, including news alerts and the university's website. Students and employees are enrolled in the system each semester. The system allows only one cellular phone number perperson. Anyone wishing to verify enrollment in OKRAlert should go to:

- DSU Online Services and log in
- Personal Information
- Enroll in OKRAlert (Emergency Text Message Notification) To "OPT-OUT" of the system, press "X" (delete) by the phone number.

YOU ARE ENCOURAGED NOT TO "OPT-OUT" at any time during employment or attendance at Delta State University. OKRAlert messages are broadcast to registered campus population and first responder agencies. The University conducts tests on the system each semester.

Immediate (Emergency) Notification

The university's policy is to notify the campus community immediately upon the confirmation of any significant emergency or dangerous situation involving a threat to the health and safety of students, guests, and employees. UPD identifies specific threats, whether manufactured or natural, which leads to the immediate activation of our OKRAlert system, communicating the threat to the campus community. However, other threats allowing for the activation may need to be assessed, and consultation with other experts may be required. Immediately notification of an emergency event will be issued without delay and will consider the campus community's safety. The only exception is if doing so would compromise efforts to assist, contain, respond to, or otherwise mitigate the emergency. In an emergency, the chief of police or an incident commander will determine the nature and severity of the situation and, if appropriate, declare an immediate campus threat and authorize activation of the OKRAlert by the UPD, OIT, or the Office of Communications & Marketing. Once immediate notification has been made, more detailed follow-up information will be released via email.

Timely Warning Notification

If a situation arises, either on or off campus, that in the judgment of the president, chief of police, or their designee constitutes an ongoing or continuing threat to persons or property, a campus-wide "timely warning" will be issued as soon as the pertinent information is available. The only exception is if doing so would compromise efforts to assist a victim or to contain, respond to, or otherwise mitigate the emergency. A timely warning intends to enable people to protect themselves and aid in preventing similar crimes. As appropriate, the warning will be distributed to all students, faculty, and staff by email, posting, or other mass communication.

Anyone with information that warrants a timely warning should report the circumstances to the University Police at 662-846-4155 or in person at the University Police Department in Bailey Hall. Once the timely warning has been made, more detailed follow-up information will be released on the university website, www.deltastate.edu, or via email.

For more information on this policy, visit https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/14769504/latest.

Crime Prevention and Safety Information for the Campus Community

The Delta State University Police Department has an active crime prevention program, which is dedicated to reducing criminal opportunities and encourages the campus community members to take responsibility for their safety and security and the safety and security of others. Crime prevention programs are available for all students, staff, and faculty. Some topics include but are not limited to personal safety and property security, alcohol and DUI awareness, drug abuse awareness, fire safety, and sexual assault/date rape prevention.

Safety on a college campus is a genuine concern. Delta State offers services and crime prevention programs to improve safety in the university community. Ultimately, each person is responsible for his/her safety, but practicing preventive methods can help reduce the probability of becoming a crime victim. The police department will offer workshops and presentations on crime prevention during the year. You should take the opportunity to attend these programs. If you have questions about campus safety, please call us at (662) 846-4155 or email police@deltastate.edu.

Campus Safety/Education

Crime Prevention and Security Awareness Programs - 34CFR 668.46(b)(6)

The mission of the University Police Department is to provide a safe and supportive environment for the University community through professional law enforcement, prevention of crime, intervention with offenders, problem-solving, and community participation.

The goal of crime prevention and security awareness programs is to eliminate or minimize criminal opportunities whenever possible and to encourage students, faculty, and staff to be responsible for their safety and the safety of others. Crime Prevention and Security Awareness Information are available on the UPD website: www.deltastate.edu/police/.

<u>Crime Prevention and Security Awareness Training</u> - Student Affairs has taken a proactive role in obtaining the proper staff training and necessary training materials to comply with the current and ongoing demands on the University's compliance requirements as it relates to Clery, VAWA, Title IX, and the Campus SaVE Act additions.

S.A.F.E. (Self-defense, Awareness, and Familiarization Exchange) - You are your best defense. This educational awareness and crime victim prevention program encompasses strategies, techniques, options, and prevention. It will provide teenage and adult women with information that may reduce their risk of exposure to violence.

Lock It Up - This program is designed to increase security awareness by reducing vulnerability. Officers use note cards or door hangers that alert would-be victims to their potential security or theft risk. Unlocked doors, wallets or purses, book bags, bikes, or anything left exposed to a potential thief would receive a "Lock It Up" card.

Campus Prevention Programs/Awareness Campaigns

<u>Student Orientation</u> - The Delta State University Police addresses new students about the police department, its policies, procedures, campus safety, parking, community policing, the police section of the website, and university conduct.

Residence Halls Programs – Residence halls directors and resident assistants are required to present "student-help" programs. Rape Aggression Defense tips have also been the topic of these programs. These programs include Clery and VAWA mandated programs along with student-life skills, how-to discussions, and other awareness topics. Safety and prevention programs are scheduled for each semester in the dorms.

Additional prevention and awareness information concerning sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking will be presented yearly to students, staff, and faculty through the University's online training program.

Panhellenic, Interfraternity and National Pan Hellenic Councils – Alcohol abuse education and other pertinent crime prevention information will be presented yearly to the members of fraternities and sororities by representatives of the University Police Department or other qualified professionals.

SGA Crime Prevention Week – The University Police, in concert with the Student Government, presents safety and awareness programs during the academic year.

<u>National Night Out</u> – In the fall or spring, the UPD hosts a crime prevention forum or open house in the police department or other public locations to establish officer-student relationships and promote awareness.

Escort Service - The UPD provides an after-hours safety escort seven days a week. Escorts are provided upon request to those who have concerns for their personal safety when moving about campus after hours. If you need an escort, call 662-846-4155.

University Counseling Center

The University Counseling Center provides university students with individual and group assistance in adapting to stressful situations while attending DSU. Examples include adjusting to the university environment, relationship issues with a roommate, professor, parents, or significant other, choosing a vocation, selecting a major, and solving personal, social, and educational difficulties

are common reasons students utilize counseling. The professional staff is also trained to help with clinical issues like depression, anxiety, grief, anger, trauma, and alcohol and drug abuse. In a confidential relationship, the student may express their thoughts and feelings, and an experienced counselor helps the student gain insight into problems and explore possible solutions.

The University Counseling Center is open for service and FREE to students, faculty, and staff, Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Stress management, Counseling, American Disabilities Act consultation, and Alcohol and Drug abuse appointments may be made in person or by calling the counseling center. Alcohol and Chemical dependency information, brochures, and treatment referrals can also be found there.

Alcohol and Drug Abuse Processes for the Campus Community

Policy Statement

In compliance with the Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act Amendments of 1989, Delta State University is committed to the elimination of alcohol and drug abuse. As specified in Section, 37-105-9, 41-29-139, 41-29-142, and 97-29-47 of the Mississippi Code Annotated legal sanctions are applied to the following actions: possession of alcohol on University property; public drunkenness on University property; utilization of false ID to obtain alcohol; driving under the influence of alcohol; possession of illicit drugs; sale of illicit drugs; sale of illicit drugs near schools; possession of paraphernalia; and sale of paraphernalia. Sanctions range from fines of \$25 to \$1 million and jail sentences of 30 days in the county jail to 30 years in the state penitentiary.

For the policy in its full entirety, including definitions, standards of conduct, sanctions, and available resources, please visit https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/14769520/latest.

Sex Offender Registry

The Campus Sex Crimes Prevention Act provides registration and community notification requirements for sex offenders enrolled in or working at higher education institutions. Effective October 2003, the law required higher education institutions to issue a statement advising the campus community where law enforcement agency information provided by a state concerning registered sex offenders could be obtained. This information can be found by accessing the Mississippi Sex Offender Registry via http://state.sor.dps.ms.gov.

Firearms and Weapons on University Property

Weapons on Campus Policy

The safety of the University's campuses is of paramount importance to the Administration of Delta State University. To ensure the safety of our campuses in accordance with the State Institutions of

Higher Learning (IHL) policies and in light of statutory enactments of the Mississippi Legislature, the University has developed this policy regarding the possession of weapons on its campuses. This policy is required for the effective communication of University policy regarding the possession of weapons by employees, students, guests, and visitors on all property of Delta State University.

Delta State University recognizes that the possession of weapons on its campus or at University or student functions off-campus, by persons other than duly authorized law enforcement officials, other authorized persons, and those participating in University approved programs, creates an unreasonable and unwarranted risk of injury or death to its employees, students, visitors, and guests, and further creates an unreasonable and unwarranted risk of damage to property of the University and of its employees, students, visitors, guests and properties of others.

Delta State University must comply with the State Institutions of Higher Learning policies, state and federal law, and any other locally applicable laws or regulations regarding the possession of weapons including firearms, on its campuses. This policy is being implemented to protect the health and safety of the students, employees, guests, and visitors to Delta State University.

For more on this policy, visit https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/14769298/latest.

Missing Student Notification

University Missing Persons Procedure

Any University employee or student who receives information that a student is missing, and believes the person is a student, must immediately report the information or evidence to the Delta State University Police Department (UPD) at 662-846-4155.

UPD will conduct a preliminary investigation to verify the situation and to determine the circumstances that exist relating to the reported missing student. If UPD determines that the student should be considered missing, an officer will contact the Vice President for Student Affairs, the appropriate outside law enforcement agencies, and, if necessary, the Office of University Services to provide the relevant information.

All pertinent law enforcement agencies, including, if known, those operating in the student's normal routes of travel or hometown, will be notified and requested to render assistance; all law enforcement agencies involved will receive routine investigation status reports during the course of the investigation.

If UPD determines that the student should be considered missing, the person making the initial report will be encouraged to make an official missing person report to local police.

For more on this policy, please visit https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/16460944/latest.

Reportable Crimes

<u>Aggravated Assault</u> – Defined as an unlawful attack by one person upon another to inflict severe or aggravated bodily injury. A weapon usually accompanies this type of assault or means likely to produce death or great bodily harm. Injury doesn't need to result from an aggravated assault when a gun, knife, or other weapon is used, which could or probably would result in a serious potential injury if the crime were successfully completed.

<u>Arson</u> – Any willful or malicious burning or attempt to burn, with or without intent to defraud, a dwelling house, public building, motor vehicle or aircraft, personal property of another, etc.

Burglary – Unlawful entry of a structure to commit a felony or a theft

<u>Dating Violence</u> – Means violence committed by a person—(a) who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim and (b) where the existence of such a relationship will be determined by the reporting party's statement and based on a consideration of the following factors:

- a) The length of the relationship
- b) The type of relationship
- c) The frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship

<u>Destruction/Damage/Vandalism to Property (except arson)</u> – To willfully or maliciously destroy, damage, deface or otherwise injure real or personal property without the owner's consent or the person having custody or control of it.

<u>Domestic Violence</u> – Includes felony or misdemeanor crimes of violence committed by a current or former spouse of the victim, by a person with whom the victim shares a child in common, by a person cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a spouse, or by any other person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person's acts under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction.

Fondling – Defined as touching another person's private part for sexual gratification without the victim's consent, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of his/her age or because of his/ her temporary or permanent mental incapacity.

<u>Hate Crimes</u> – Includes all of the crimes listed above that manifest evidence that the victim was intentionally selected because of the perpetrator's bias against the victim based on one of the Categories of Prejudice listed below, plus the following crimes:

<u>Incest</u> – Defined as non-forcible sexual intercourse between persons who are related to each other within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by law.

<u>Intimidation</u> – To unlawfully place another person in reasonable fear of bodily harm by threatening words or other conduct without displaying a weapon or subjecting the victim to a physical attack.

<u>Larceny/Theft</u> – Includes pocket picking, purse snatching, shoplifting, theft from a building, theft from a motor vehicle, theft of motor vehicle parts or accessories, and all other larcenies.

Liquor Law Violations – The violation of laws prohibiting the manufacture, sale, transporting, furnishing, possessing of intoxicating liquor; maintaining unlawful drinking places; bootlegging; operating a still; furnishing liquor to a minor or intemperate person; using a vehicle for illegal transportation of liquor; drinking on a train or public conveyance; all attempts to commit any of the aforementioned (Drunkenness and driving under the influence are not included in this definition.)

<u>Motor Vehicle Theft</u> – Theft or attempted theft of a motor vehicle (Classify as motor vehicle theft in all cases where automobiles are taken by persons not having lawful access even though the vehicles are later abandoned, including joyriding.)

<u>Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter</u> – Defined as the willful (non-negligent) killing of one human being by another.

Negligent Manslaughter - Defined as the killing of another person through gross negligence.

Rape-completed – Penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus with any body part or object, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, without the victim's consent.

Rape-Attempts to Commit Rape – Assaults or attempts to rape.

Robbery – Defined as taking or attempting to take anything of value from the car, custody or control of a person or persons by force or threat of force or violence or by putting the victim in fear.

<u>Simple Assault</u> – Unlawful physical attack by one person upon another, where neither the offender displays a weapon nor the victim suffers obvious severe or aggravated bodily injury involving apparent broken bones, loss of teeth, possible internal injury, severe laceration, or loss of consciousness.

Stalking – This means engaging in conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person to a) fear for his or her safety or the safety of others or b) suffer substantial emotional distress. For this definition,

- a) Course of Conduct means two or more acts, including, but not limited to, acts in which the stalker directly, indirectly, or through third parties, by any action, method, device, or means follows, monitors, observes, surveils, threatens, or communicates to or about a person, or interferes with a person's property.
- b) A reasonable person means a reasonable person under similar circumstances and with similar identities to the victim.
- c) Substantial emotional distress means significant mental suffering or anguish that may, but does not necessarily,
- d) Require medical or other professional treatment or counseling.

<u>Statutory Rape</u> – Defined as non-forcible sexual intercourse with a person under the statutory age of consent.

<u>Weapon Law Violations</u> – The violation of laws or ordinances dealing with weapon offenses, regulatory in nature, such as manufacture, sale, or possession of deadly weapons; carrying deadly weapons, concealed or openly; furnishing deadly weapons to minors; aliens possessing deadly weapons; and all attempts to commit any of the aforementioned Drug Abuse Violations – Violations

of state and local laws relating to the unlawful possession, sale, use, growing, manufacturing, and making of narcotic drugs. The relevant substances include opium or cocaine and their derivatives (morphine, heroin, codeine); marijuana; synthetic narcotics (Demerol, methadone); and dangerous non-narcotic drugs (barbiturates, Benzedrine).

Categories of Prejudice

Disability – A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons based on their physical or mental impairments/challenges, whether such disability is temporary or permanent, congenital or acquired by heredity, accident, injury, advanced age, or illness.

Ethnicity/National Origin – A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons of the same race or national origin who share common or similar traits, languages, customs, and traditions.

<u>Gender</u> – A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons because those persons are male or female.

<u>Gender Identity</u> – A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons because the perceived gender of those persons may be different from the gender traditionally associated with their gender at birth.

<u>Race</u> – A preformed negative attitude toward a group of persons with common physical characteristics genetically transmitted by descent and heredity that distinguish them as a distinct division of humankind.

<u>Religion</u> – A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons who share the same religious beliefs regarding the origin and purpose of the universe and the existence or nonexistence of a supreme being.

<u>Sexual Orientation</u> – A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons based on their sexual attraction toward, and responsiveness to, members of their own sex or members of the opposite sex.

GEOGRAPHY DEFINITIONS FROM THE CLERY ACT

On-Campus – On-campus is defined as (1) any building or property owned or controlled by an institution within the same reasonably contiguous geographic area and used by the institution in direct support of or in a manner related to the institution's educational purposes, including residence halls; and (2) any building or property that is reasonably contiguous to the area identified as paragraph 1, that is owned by the institution but controlled by another person, is frequently used by students, and supports institutional purposes (such as a food or retail vendor).

Non-Campus Building or Property – A non-campus building or property is defined as (1) any building or property owned or controlled by a student organization that the institution officially recognizes or (2) any building or property owned or controlled by an institution that is used in direct support of or concerning the institution's educational purposes, is frequently used by students, and is not within the same reasonably contiguous geographic area of the institution.

Public Property - Public property is all property, including thoroughfares, streets, sidewalks, and parking facilities, within the campus or immediately adjacent to and accessible from the campus owned by a public entity.

Other Pertinent Policies

Housing & Residence Life https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/16388498/latest

Vapor and Tobacco Use on Campus https://deltastate.policystat.com/policy/15370229/latest

Distribution of the Annual Security and Fire Safety Report

On or before October 1 of each year, an electronic copy of the Annual Report is sent to all students, faculty, and staff via their University email. The Annual Report may be obtained online at https://www.deltastate.edu/students/police/campus-safety/.

Annual Crime Statistics

In compliance with the Jeanne Clery Act, the Delta State University Police Department is responsible for reporting specific crime statistics to the Department of Education. Additionally, the University Police Department must comply with other state and federal crime statistics reporting mandates. There is a vast difference in reporting requirements between the Clery report and other State and Federal crime reporting statistics. Clery reporting requires the reporting of student disciplinary referrals for certain crimes.

In rare instances, a case may be classified as unfounded and subsequently withheld from reporting. These instances must include that the report was made, but there was no evidence to support the case, or the investigation did not yield any evidence to support the case. Additionally, the reauthorization of the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA), signed into law in 2013, called for reporting in three new categories: dating violence, domestic violence, and stalking.

This report contains crime statistics compiled from 2021 through 2023. Delta State University does not record criminal activity where students are engaged in off-campus locations unless the attending law enforcement agency involves the University Police Department. The university does not have "off-campus housed" residential student organizations that the institution officially recognizes. In addition, DSU does not own or operate any off-campus housing.

| CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|--|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rape only) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Stalking | 0 | 1 | 0 |

CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS RESIDENCE HALLS

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|--|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rape only) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Stalking | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

CRIMINAL OFFENSES – NON-CAMPUS

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|--|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rape only) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Stalking | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

CRIMINAL OFFENSES – PUBLIC PROPERTY

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|--|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rape only) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Stalking | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

• Identified adjacent public property is Shumate Park and Grammy Museum MS.

CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS RESIDENCE HALLS HATE CRIMES

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|--|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rape only) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Simple Assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Larceny-Theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Intimidation | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Destruction/damage/vandalism of property | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

CRIMINAL OFFENSES - ON-CAMPUS HATE CRIMES

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|--|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rape only) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Simple Assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Larceny-Theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Intimidation | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Destruction/damage/vandalism of property | 0 | 0 | 0 |

CRIMINAL OFFENSES - NON-CAMPUS HATE CRIMES

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|---|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rapeonly) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Simple Assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Larceny-Theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Intimidation | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Destruction/damage/vandalism of property | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

CRIMINAL OFFENSES – PUBLIC PROPERTY HATE CRIMES

| THOI EITH HIME OTHER | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|--|------|------|------|
| Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Negligent manslaughter | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses – Forcible | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sex offenses - Non-forcible (incest and statutory rape only) | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Robbery | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aggravated assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Burglary | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Motor vehicle theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Arson | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Simple Assault | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Larceny-Theft | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Intimidation | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Destruction/damage/vandalism of property | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

VAWA OFFENSES ON CAMPUS

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 | |
|-------------------|------|------|------|--|
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 1 | 1 | |
| Stalking | 0 | 1 | 0 | |

VAWA OFFENSES ON CAMPUS STUDENT HOUING FACILITIES

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|-------------------|------|------|------|
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 1 | 1 |
| Stalking | 0 | 1 | 0 |

VAWA OFFENSES NON CAMPUS

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 | |
|-------------------|------|------|------|--|
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Stalking | 0 | 0 | 0 | |

VAWA OFFENSES PUBLIC PROPERTY

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 | |
|-------------------|------|------|------|--|
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Stalking | 0 | 0 | 0 | |

VAWA OFFENSES REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 | |
|-------------------|------|------|------|--|
| Domestic Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Dating Violence | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Stalking | 0 | 0 | 0 | |

| ARRESTS - ON-0 | CAN | 1PI | US |
|----------------|-----|-----|----|
|----------------|-----|-----|----|

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|----------------------------|------|------|------|
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |

ARRESTS - ON-CAMPUS RESIDENCE

| HAL | LS |
|-----|----|
|-----|----|

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|----------------------------|------|------|------|
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |

ARRESTS - NON-CAMPUS

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|----------------------------|------|------|------|
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |

ARRESTS - PUBLIC PROPERTY

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|----------------------------|------|------|------|
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |

ARRESTS - REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|----------------------------|------|------|------|
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|---|--------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 4 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS ON-CAMPUS | | | |
| STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 4 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |
| DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS NON-CAMPUS | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
| Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Drug law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Liquor law violations | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |
| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
| | 2021 0 | 2022 0 | 2023 0 |
| DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS PUBLIC PROPERTY Illegal weapons possession Drug law violations | | | |
| PROPERTY Illegal weapons possession | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| PROPERTY Illegal weapons possession Drug law violations | 0 0 0 | 0 0 0 | 0 0 0 |
| PROPERTY Illegal weapons possession Drug law violations Liquor law violations DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS REPORTED BY | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| PROPERTY Illegal weapons possession Drug law violations Liquor law violations DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE | 0 0 0 | 0 0 0 | 0 0 0 |
| PROPERTY Illegal weapons possession Drug law violations Liquor law violations DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE Illegal weapons possession | 0 0 0 2021 | 0 0 0 2022 0 | 0 0 0 0 2023 |
| PROPERTY Illegal weapons possession Drug law violations Liquor law violations DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS REPORTED BY LOCAL POLICE Illegal weapons possession Drug law violations | 0 0 0 2021 0 | 0 0 0 0 2022 0 | 0 0 0 0 2023 0 |

Annual Fire Safety Report

FIRES

| TINLO | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|---------------------|------|------|------|
| Blansett | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Brumby-Castle | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Cain-Tatum | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Cleveland* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Court of Governors* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Foundation | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Fugler-Hammet | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Hill Apartments | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Lawler-Harkins | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ward* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

^{*} Hall has been closed for at least three (3) years; not used for residential living.

FIRE INJURIES

| I INC INJOINES | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|---------------------|------|------|------|
| Blansett | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Brumby-Castle | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Cain-Tatum | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Cleveland* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Court of Governors* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Foundation | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Fugler-Hammet | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Hill Apartments | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Lawler-Harkins | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ward* | 0 | 0 | 0 |

^{*} Hall has been closed for at least three (3) years; not used for residential living.

FIRE FATALITIES/DEATHS

| | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 |
|---------------------|------|------|------|
| Blansett | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Brumby-Castle | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Cain-Tatum | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Cleveland* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Court of Governors* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Foundation | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Fugler-Hammet | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Hill Apartments | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Lawler-Harkins | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ward* | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | |

^{*} Hall has been closed for at least three (3) years; not used for residential living.

Fire Systems Inventory

All residence halls at Delta State University are equipped with electronic fire warning systems. Several systems can pinpoint the specific area that caused the alarm to sound, thereby reducing the response time of the Residence Hall Staff, Facilities Management Staff, and University Police.

Description of Student Housing Facility Fire Safety Systems

| Alarm System | Sprinkled |
|---------------------|---|
| Simplex 4005 | Yes |
| Simplex 4010 | Yes |
| MIRCOM FX-2003-6DS | Yes |
| Simplex 4010 | Yes |
| Simplex ES & 4010 | Yes |
| Simplex 4100 U | Yes |
| MIRCOM FX-2003-6DS | Yes |
| Simplex ES | Yes |
| Simplex 4000 Series | Yes |
| Simplex 4010 | Yes |
| | Simplex 4005 Simplex 4010 MIRCOM FX-2003-6DS Simplex 4010 Simplex ES & 4010 Simplex 4100 U MIRCOM FX-2003-6DS Simplex ES Simplex ES Simplex 4000 Series |

Smoke/Fire

Report a fire or emergency by calling the University Police at (662) 846-4155, giving the exact location of the fire, your name, building name, room number, and floor. State what is burning, smoking, or smells like fire. In each building, occupants will be notified through an alarm system, Okra alert, electronic communication, or oral communication. However, this last method is not advisable for work areas with ten or more people. The building manager must ensure that there is an effective method to notify occupants of an emergency.

Occupants must know whom to notify if the building manager is absent. Occupants should know at least two exits from the building and know the evacuation route posted on their floor. When notified to evacuate, do so calmly and orderly; walk, do not run; keep conversation level down; close all doors behind you; use the stairs, not elevators, and assist others needing assistance.

During evacuation, floor marshals ensure that every person on his/her floor has been notified and evacuation routes are clear. If possible, the floor marshal will check that all doors are closed and be the last one out. Upon leaving the floor, the floor marshal will report the status of floor evacuation to the building manager. People with disabilities (mobility, hearing, sight) who require evacuation assistance are responsible for pre-arranging with someone in their immediate work area/residence hall to assist them during the evacuation. Anyone knowing of a person with a disability or injury who could not evacuate will report this to a floor marshal, building manager, or University Police immediately.

The Dean, Director, or Department Head shall designate a building manager with a thorough understanding and appropriate knowledge of the plan and ensure they are adequately instructed in their duties and responsibilities. There must be adequate alternates to assume responsibilities without the building manager or floor marshals. These designations should also be made in the pre-planning stages, and names should be submitted to University Police for campus comprehensive compilation. University Vice Presidents are responsible for ensuring the above are completed. Campus-wide fire evacuation drills are conducted annually in each building, critiqued and documented by the building manager, and submitted to the University Police. Before holding a fire evacuation drill where the alarm is triggered, the University Police, Facilities Management, and the fire inspector will be notified.

The University Police Department responds to all fire reports on campus and completes an incident report. The UPD maintains the Fire Safety Log, which is available for public inspection. The log will provide, at a minimum, the date the fire was reported, the nature of the fire, the date and time of the fire, and a general location.